

Telecommunications Regulatory Commission

Draft Work Plan & Budget <u>2022/23</u>

"Accelerating communications development in the British Virgin Islands."

Consultation Document

Publication Date: 19 May 2022 Closing Date: 16 June 2022 Reference Number: 02/22



Contents

| 1. | Foreword | 3 |
|--|---|----|
| 2. | About This Document | 5 |
| 3. | Part I: Strategic Overview | 6 |
| Background | | |
| | Vision, Mission, Values | 6 |
| Board of the Commission | | |
| | A Plan Of Work To Deliver On Our Mission | 7 |
| | Strategic Aims and Objectives for 2022/2023 | 7 |
| 5. | | |
| 6. | Part III: Ongoing Work | 16 |
| 7. | Part IV: Budget for 2022/2023 Financial Year | 19 |
| | Estimated Income | 19 |
| | Estimated Expenditure | |
| | Overview Of Budgetary Items | 20 |
| Annex - Instructions for submitting a Response | | |
| | Cover Sheet For Response To A Commission Consultation | 23 |



1. Foreword

On behalf of the Telecommunications Regulatory Commission (**Commission**), I am pleased to present the 2022/2023 Work Plan. Yearly, we aim to put forth a plan that outlines key factors of what we, at the Commission, aim to accomplish during that time. It also demonstrates and highlights how we will ensure that our organisation is fully equipped to give the people of the British Virgin Islands a leading-edge communications system from television to radio, telecommunications and marine safety that will keep our Territory on the cutting edge of technology with the rest of the world.

As such, to maintain our relationship with consumers and those which we regulate, the Commission has consistently promoted transparency in all that we do. A few goals this Work Plan sets out to accomplish are as follows:

We aim to achieve wholistic compliance with reporting obligations by completing outstanding audited financial statements and annual reports. The Commission also outlines its vision to increase its interest in the investment market by releasing valuable spectrum to allow 5G, which will in turn offer operators the needed support to provide the public with new and innovative services. We are reforming the regulatory environment; this is essential as it would allow a revamp to commence on the telecommunications legislative framework. Finally, we aim to assess the local telecommunications market and address areas where deficiencies and inefficiencies can easily be identified to increase competition thus ensuring a levelled playing field between market players.

A community is defined as

"a social group of any size whose members reside in a specific locality, share government, and often have a common cultural and historical heritage".

The essence of every community essentially is the way in which it communicates. We also know that communication is the basis for how we live, learn and work. How members of a particular community achieve that will improve as technology advances, ultimately expanding one's community and whom we need to communicate with. Culturally, the BVI is comprised of a melting pot of virtually any part of the Caribbean and the world. The Commission's responsibility is to ensure staying connected with all members of your community is a priority of our telecom providers.

The last three years have taught us that life is fragile, and things can happen in a flash; we needed the power of communication more than ever when more and more people opted to continue working from home, relying on the power of the internet and ultimately the power of the Commission. We facilitate peace of mind for consumers to be given a fair opportunity to experience our communications providers' best there is to offer.

Therefore, as a telecommunications body, it is pertinent that we consistently provide a bold show of leadership and determination for change to the public by starting within. During our brainstorming process on ways in which we may accomplish this, our strategic team recognised the value of having an updated singular organisational goal and went on to create a new mission, vision, along with core values while including the opinions of each member of staff.

The telecommunications industry has advanced, and networks are becoming more reliable, efficient and speedy despite cyberattacks, extreme weather and pricing. The Commission accepts these challenges and

any other challenges that may arise and lends the utmost support to our telecommunications providers so that they are empowered to equip themselves accordingly.

In 2014, the Submarine Cable Directive was issued by the Commission. This Directive levies a fee on all submarine cables landed in the BVI. These cables span from Aruba to Jacksonville, Florida. Income from this decision has since increased yearly, and this revenue source would not be possible had the Commission not issued the Directive.

For several years, radio operators failed to submit the annual broadcasting station radio licence fee; however, in 2021, we were able to follow up and issue demand letters to delinquent parties. As a result of this effort, revenue owed to the Commission has been collected and most broadcasting stations are up to date.

As we continue to advise the Minister on positions and policies relating to telecommunications issues locally, internationally, and regionally, we recognise that it is of the utmost importance to have our regulations met and obeyed so that we are equipped to give our best and greatest vote of confidence in our providers. Also, we will continue to establish and monitor the implementation of national telecommunications standards. We stand by our word to license, regulate, and develop our industry for the Territory of the British Virgin Islands.

(Sgd.) Guy L. Malone.

Chief Executive Officer



2. About This Document

The Telecommunications Regulatory Commission of the British Virgin Islands (**Commission**) is tasked with the regulation and development of the telecommunications services industry in the Territory.

Under section 63 of the Telecommunications Act 2006 (**Act**), the Commission is required to publish its Annual Work Plan and Budget.

Our Annual Work Plan outlines some of the key work that we propose to undertake to realise our objectives in the coming year. We also highlight our on-going work, which supports these goals. This document is a draft of our Work Plan and Budget for the Commission's 2022/2023 financial year.

We are publishing this draft to provide our stakeholders with the opportunity to comment on our proposed priorities, anticipated work for the financial year and attendant budget.



3. Part I: Strategic Overview

Background

- 3.1 The Commission is the independent regulator for telecommunications in the British Virgin Islands, established in 2007 in accordance with the Act. Our mandate is to implement the Government's policy with respect to telecommunications as set out in the Telecommunications Liberalisation in the British Virgin Islands policy. Our principal statutory functions are set out in section 6 of the Act.
- 3.2 To promote transparency and accountability, the Commission is required to publish an Annual Work Plan containing a general description of the work and activities that the Commission plans to undertake in the financial year.
- 3.3 In accordance with its statutory obligations, this document is the Commission's 2022/2023 Annual Plan, which will guide the Commission's work in 2022 in the telecommunications sector, for which it has responsibility. Also included in this document is the 2023 budget as required by section 63 of the Act.

Vision, Mission, Values

3.4 During the 2021/2022 work year, the Commission undertook an exercise towards revamping its vision, mission and core values. Our new organisational statements are outlined below:

Vision

A model regulator that champions accessible, leading-edge and resilient communications.

Mission

Accelerate communications development in the BVI to empower consumers and foster a progressive environment

Core Values

- Integrity.
- Service-driven.
- Empowerment.
- Family culture.
- Diversity.
- Innovation.

Board of the Commission

3.5 In accordance with section 7 of the Act, the Board of the Commission shall comprise of members appointed by the Minister to whom responsibility for telecommunications is assigned, with the approval of Council. The current Board of the Commission includes:

Chairman: Vance Lewis (Appointed: 1 February 2020 to serve for a term of three years)



Deputy Chairman: Vincent Wattley (Appointed: 1 February 2020 to serve for a term of

three years)

Chief Executive Officer and Board Member: Guy L. Malone: Re-appointed 1 March 2021

for a term of two years

3.6 The Board of the Commission, as constituted, is continuing its objective of undertaking a thorough review of (a) work done by the Commission to date; (b) action required to bring the Commission into line and up to date with its duties under the Act; (c) the quality and speed of communications services being delivered in the Territory; (d) revamping of the legislation to bring the BVI up to international standards; (e) staffing requirements to facilitate the delivery of the Commission's Work Plan and (f) an initiative to improve services in the Virgin Islands inclusive of the sister islands and rural areas on Tortola.

A Plan Of Work To Deliver On Our Mission

- 3.7 This 2022-2023 Work Plan outlines the Commission's work programme and budget for the period. The development of this plan was informed by our statutory remit, our organisational statements and our strategic goals and objectives. The work we set out to accomplish is reflective of the ways that we will deliver on our mission of being a model regulator and our vision to accelerate communications development in the BVI.
- 3.8 Important elements of the 2022-2023 plan are designed to foster a better functioning telecommunications services industry, to improve customer experiences and the way that we regulate. Our work is done on the backdrop of dynamic businesses that continue to invest in our economy and the experiences and concerns of consumers and citizens across our Territory.
- 3.9 Accountability to our stakeholders remain at the forefront of our work and, in this vein, we took a step in a new direction in the development of the 2022-2023 work plan. A subset of our stakeholders was invited to share their ideas on the work that they would like to see undertaken by the Commission, along with ways that they wish us to engage them moving forward. We found those conversations to be engaging and we are hopeful that they represent a new wave of engagement in the sector.

Strategic Aims and Objectives for 2022/2023

3.10 The Commission believes that the 2022-2023 year represents the start of a new era in the telecommunications industry in the BVI. To support this, we have identified seven strategic aims and objectives for the 2022-2023 work year:

3.10.1 Safeguard Competition

The Commission is mindful of our obligation to safeguard competition and increase cooperation to promote a level playing field among telecommunications network operators and service providers to foster a healthy telecommunications economy. In the post-pandemic era, there is increasing



importance for governments and regulators to take swift and strong actions to keep markets and the economy functioning.

3.10.2 Encourage Investment

Our strategic priorities include promoting investments to support the economy's increased reliance on e-commerce and electronic transactions and the infrastructural changes needed to deliver services to support other key sectors such as, but not limited to, financial services, health, and education.

3.10.3 Enhance Corporate Image

We aim to enhance our corporate social responsibility to better impact the community, customers, the environment, and our stakeholders. We will continue to integrate social and environmental concerns into our operations and interactions with stakeholders, and educate the Virgin Islands community on developments and other key matters related to the industry and best interest of the community.

3.10.4 Reform Regulatory Framework

The Commission is undertaking a review of the telecommunication's legislative regime with a view to ensuring that the relevant laws are current, modern, reflect international best practices and promote the systematic development to telecommunications throughout the Virgin Islands.

3.10.5 Enhance Stakeholder Relationships

The Commission is committed to maintaining positive and proactive engagement with its stakeholders and other third-party groups that hold common interest to forge mutually beneficial connections and to better appreciate the interest, challenges, and opportunities of the telecommunications stakeholders for the overall improvement of the Territory's telecommunications infrastructure.

3.10.6 Empower & Protect Consumers

We will continue to inform and educate the general public, through our public awareness campaign, of relevant topics and matters of public interest to assist customers with making informed decisions. Similarly, we will continue to protect consumers through the enforcement of our policies and ensuring that telecommunications network operators and service providers are compliant with their obligations.

3.10.7 Modernise Internal Processes

We will carry out an in-depth assessment of challenges, processes, risks, and controls to development a plan fit for purpose to modernise the Commission's internal processes for stakeholder satisfaction and efficiency. In this digital era, we appreciate the importance of technologies and processes that include digitisation and automation.



4. Overview of Activities for 2021/2022

- 4.1 The Commission is currently working towards performing the activities outlined in its 2021-2022 work programme. There was some delay to the pursuit of a few tasks due to work on the licence renewal project. The organisation approached this process through a collaborative approach, which saw much of its resources being utilised towards completion of relative tasks.
- 4.2 Notwithstanding the foregoing, several other projects, some of which are detailed below, continue to progress as planned and the Commission is optimistic that the results of this year's work will yield benefits to the regulatory environment that we operate in.
- 4.3 The Commission conducted a consultation on the Licence Renewal Fee Methodology, to seek stakeholder input on the principles and process to be applied in assessing the fee for unitary licences, due for renewal in 2022. This consultation commenced on 18 October 2022 and closed on 25 November 2022. A final statement was issued by the Commission on 3 May 2022. Our work towards finalising the fee, through the use of the identified methodology, is underway and will be completed shortly.
- 4.4 In addition to the Licence Fee Methodology, work is on-going within our Economics Department to determine new fees for telecommunications networks and services, and radiocommunications services, which should be completed in June 2022. Following this, these fees along with the respective Telecommunications Codes, will be shared with our stakeholders through a consultative process.
- 4.5 As we strive to become compliant with our reporting obligations, the Commission commenced its financial audit for 2019/2020 in the first quarter of the financial year. This is projected to be completed by 31 July 2022. Thereafter the audit for 2020/2021 will be commenced, with a view to completing same by the end of the 2021/2022 financial year.
- 4.6 In tandem with the emphasis we have placed on compliance, the Commission has prioritised the importance of its staff through the implementation of several recommendations from our previously conducted human resources review of the organisation. This included the establishment of various policies and programmes within the Commission to ensure a better functioning and cohesive staff compliment. This work will be completed before 30 September 2022.
- 4.7 A major undertaking for the Commission during the 2021-2022 work year was to consider the renewal of operator licences that are due to expire in 2022. To date, we have received and assessed four applications for renewal, conducted compliance evaluations and public hearings, and are now progressing the respective decisions. Related to this project was the review of the terms and conditions as applicable to licences being renewed in 2022, and determining the updated terms and conditions that reasonably reflect changed circumstances in the industry since the issuance of the 2007 licences. We completed the latter project on 1 May 2022 through the publication of a Directive and Report & Opinion on the Terms of Renewed Unitary Licences.
- 4.8 Our Spectrum Department has commenced work on the development of an Equipment Type Approval Regulatory Framework (**TARF**), which will be a Telecommunications Code that will regulate radio products and peripherals entering the BVI. Some of the main objectives of the Code



are to ensure such devices adhere to acceptable technical standards, safety for public users, interoperability with public networks, compliance with the National Spectrum Plan, and satisfy requirements of section 42 of the Telecommunications Act 2006. In this regard, the Commission has concluded its first consultation on the principles and objectives of the TARF and aims to complete this project by fourth quarter of the 2021-2022 financial year.

- 4.9 The rebuild of the BVI Internet Exchange Point, a project managed by our Technical Department, has been completed to facilitate connectivity by all operators, who have been engaged in discussion relating to fulfilling their joining obligations. Final details on the technical and legal matters relating to connecting to the Exchange are being discussed with operators, as the Commission endeavours to enable connection by the end of the fiscal year.
- 4.10 Lastly, the Commission established a Disaster Recovery Site, through a build-out at premises that would allow for the on-going operation of the Commission in the event of a disaster, natural hazard or force majeure event. We are awaiting the arrival of equipment on island; following which, relevant installations will commence immediately. We expect the site to be fully operational by the fourth quarter of the 2021-2022 financial year.
- 4.11 Additional detail of work undertaken and completed by the Commission during the 2021-2022 financial year will be provided in our Annual Report.



5. Part II: Work Plan 2022/2023

The Commission's objective for the British Virgin Islands' telecommunications market is to ensure that it satisfies all reasonable demands for telecommunications services by accelerating development and fostering a progressive environment. Our critical projects for 2022 and 2023 are set out below.

A Competitive Telecommunications Market

Economic Analysis | Enhanced Oversight | Targeted Action

- 5.1 The Commission is mindful of its duty to ensure fair competition among licensees and all other operators of telecommunications networks or providers of telecommunications services.
- 5.2 Our aim is to increase competition to enable a thriving and levelled playing field between market players. To achieve this, the Commission will identify appropriate areas in the market to review. Our focus will be in finding possible dominance and anti-competitive behaviour. This will enable the Commission to resolve constraints on the development of the sector and identify remedies to address market failure. This project will be conducted during the third quarter of the financial year, between April to June 2023.
- 5.3 Following the assessment of the competitive dynamics and proposal of defined economic markets, the Commission will proceed to develop a new market review framework. The last market review was published by the Commission in 2010. A market review framework provides regulatory stability by allowing the Commission to conduct market assessments and impose remedies based on a forward-looking assessment of markets, taking into account expected or foreseeable developments that may affect competition.
- 5.4 Our upcoming review will prioritise making the process more transparent and comprehensive. New priority markets for review will be considered, along with viable solutions for market effectiveness. This project will involve defining economic markets, conducting market assessments and proposing solutions. We will undertake this project between June to September 2023.

A Compliant Regulatory Body

Model Regulator | Effective Management | Best Practice

- 5.5 As the regulator for telecommunications, we recognise that we are a representation of what is to be expected from regulated entities in the local sector. With excellence in mind, we now wish to chart a new course for the industry, starting with our coming into compliance with all applicable legal and regulatory obligations.
- 5.6 Within three months after the end of the financial year, the Commission shall prepare and approve accounts which shall, within six months after the end of each financial year, be audited. During the 2022-2023 financial year, the Commission will become compliant with this obligation. The Commission currently is undergoing its 2020 audit with a view of completion by September 2022. We will complete the 2021 audited financial statements by September 2023.



- 5.7 Within three months of the completion of the audit of the Commission's accounts in respect of any financial year, the Commission shall submit to the Minister responsible for finance (a) a copy of its audited accounts and (b) a written report of its operations and activities for that financial year together with a copy of the audited financial statements.
- 5.8 The Commission has been steadily working towards compliance with our reporting obligations in completing our annual report. In 2022/2023, we will continue our work of producing all outstanding annual reports, which will be completed by September 2023.

A Progressive Organisation

People-Focused | Enhanced Image | Consumer Education

- 5.9 The Commission believes that its most important resource is its employees. In tandem with this, we know that our work as a regulator is not merely about what we do, but what we are seen to be doing. In this regard, we aspire to bridge the divide in both areas.
- 5.10 To show our staff that they are valued, we will organise a staff retreat with a goal to build stronger relationship among our team one team; one goals and to strengthen the organisation holistically. This event is scheduled to take place in February 2023 and will, thereafter, become an event held periodically in our quest towards engendering an empowered and family-oriented work environment.
- 5.11 To advance our desire of interfacing with the public, whom we serve, we will establish a public relations resource for the organisation. This worker will have responsibility for utilising a combination of virtual and physical engagements, at regular intervals, to educate stakeholders on our regulatory work and activities.
- 5.12 The Commission intends for its progression as an organisation to translate to an empowered BVI, whereby we will endeavour to create a digital literacy campaign on the use of Information and Communications Technologies (ICTs), the capabilities of related devices and the potential of cyber threats to enable safe and effective communication. This project is dependent on the securing of the public relations resource and, therefore, a specific commencement date is undetermined at this time. Notwithstanding this, we are cognisant that such an important undertaking should not be a one-time occurrence and we expect this to span beyond the 2022-2023 work year.

A Reformed Regulatory Framework

Revamped Legislation | Purposeful Regulation | Adaptable Oversight

5.13 The Commission, as a creature of statute, can only regulate within the four corners of the law. Legislative good practice dictates that statutes are reviewed, at minimum, every 10 years. Given the lapse of time and the evolution of the telecommunications industry, the Commission considers that the regulatory framework may no longer be fit for purpose.



- 5.14 This was indicated by the Commission in its 2021-2022 work programme; following which, a Request for Proposals in relation to the review of the telecommunications legislative regime was issued by the Commission, with a view to ensuring that the relevant laws are current, modern, reflect international best practices and promote the systematic development of telecommunications throughout the Virgin Islands.
- 5.15 The legislative framework as applicable to this project include (i) the Telecommunications Act 2006 (No. 10 of 2006), which established the Commission to license, regulate and develop the telecommunications services industry in the Virgin Islands, (ii) the Telecommunications (Amendment) Act 2010, which amends the 2006 Telecommunications Act, (iii) the Telecommunications (Licences and Fees) Order made July 12, 1977 under section 6 of the Telecommunications services, (iv) the Telecommunications Rules, dated June 1, 1951, made under section 18 of the Telecommunications Act 1951, which outlines the rules as applicable to various radiocommunications services, and (v) the Telecommunications (Side Band Restrictions) Rules, made January 3, 1975 under section 18(2)(e) of the Telecommunications Act 1951, which outlines the restrictions as applicable to double-side band transmitting equipment.
- 5.16 The Commission is finalising its engagement with a local firm to assist with carrying out this project, which is estimated to take approximately sixteen (16) months. We will aim to complete the new telecommunications legislative framework in the fourth quarter of the financial year.

A Modernised Internal Environment

Reformed Processes | Enhanced Communication | Improved Relationships

- 5.17 As the Commission seeks to become a model regulator, we are of the view that our resources must be managed effectively and in way that reflects responsible and valued usage.
- 5.18 The Commission will seek to streamline and optimise our communication processes with a view towards the improvement of our relationship with our external stakeholders, which include the operators and other licensees, government and business and residential consumers. This will be accomplished by determining the best methods of communications for each group (where not mandated by regulations) and the type of information to be exchanged. Through a process mapping exercise, we will also review our current practices and implement the necessary changes to improve the efficiency of the organisation. This will be targeted to be completed in the third quarter of the financial year.

An Accelerated Network

Valued Investment | New Technologies | Increased Development

5.19 The Commission supports the continued investment in resilient communications networks with a view to achieving quality services for people and businesses. The need for better and accelerated services became apparent from the onset of the covid-19 pandemic.



- 5.20 The Commission plans to release spectrum to support new and innovative wireless services, including Fifth Generation (5G) wireless technologies by fourth quarter of the 2022-2023 work year. This spectrum is expected to provide mobile network operators (MNOs) with access to additional spectrum to address growing consumer demands for improved wireless network performance and evolving end user needs.
- 5.21 Previously, in its 2021-2022 work programne, the Commission signaled to the industry that it would make spectrum available that supported 'Advanced LTE and 5G services'. However, due to the uncertainty in the market brought about by the pandemic, and the need for both the Commission and operators to focus efforts on the renewal of expiring 15-year licences, the Commission saw benefit in delaying its planned spectrum award. In this upcoming year, however, we will resume our work started in this realm. This project will be commenced in the second quarter of the financial year, to allow for the prior completion of the licence renewal process.
- 5.22 To prepare for the release of spectrum, the Commission will be undertaking a spectrum audit to assess any inefficient or illegal usage of spectrum and developing a 5G strategy to ensure the full realisation and benefit of 5G in the Territory.

An Empowered Consumer-Base

Informed Choices | Service Standards | Digital Cohesion

- 5.23 Empowering consumers and ensuring they are informed when making decisions in the telecommunications industry is an important priority for the Commission.
- 5.24 The Commission will implement an annual customer satisfaction survey of broadband users across the Territory. When published, the empirical data captured from the various categories of broadband users will (i) facilitate an analysis of service quality across the territory, (ii) facilitate a comparison of service quality among operators, (iii) assist customers with making an informed choice of service provider (iv) provide useful data for year-on-year comparison of usage and quality (v) provide the Commission with useful input for the establishment of minimum service standards.
- 5.25 This project will be conducted using a combination of online and face-to-face interviews; following which, the survey results will be analysed and a final report produced. Work on this project will commence in the second quarter of the work year and run for approximately three (4) months.
- 5.26 Additionally, the Commission is cognisant that following the near complete destruction of the telecommunications infrastructure by hurricanes Irma and Maria in 2017, all operators have embarked on programs to rebuild their broadband networks, primarily focusing on delivering Fibre to the Home (FTTH), some promoting speeds of up to 1 Gbps download. Recognising that such service and speeds will not be available everywhere and affordable to everyone, the Commission will conduct a study to determine the extent of the existence of a digital divide.
- 5.27 The data gathered from the above-mentioned study will help the Commission to (i) assess both the availability and competitiveness of service across the territory, (ii) identify locations limited by transmission technology, and (iii) identify locations that might be completely unserved. Ultimately, this information will provide the Commission with a clear understanding of digital inequalities



across the territory. This project will commence in the third quarter of the work year and is aimed for completion by September 2023.



6. Part III: Ongoing Work

Under section 6 of the Act, the Commission has a broad range of duties and responsibilities. Much of this work is non-discretionary and is outlined in the Act.

Our broader programme of on-going work, as outlined below, helps us to fulfill our wider mandate and supports the work identified in Part 2 above.

6.1 **Protecting consumer interests**

As one of the essential safeguards of the public's interest, we establish quality of service indicators and reporting requirements. We enforce and monitor the effectiveness of operator performance to ensure an optimum consumer experience in the telecommunications sector.

6.2 Addressing consumer complaints

When telecommunications users in the BVI submit a complaint, the Commission investigates these allegations, facilitates relief to the consumer, and creates a firm and practical solution where it sees harm.

6.3 Market Research and Tracking Survey

To expand our understanding of the industry and ensure optimum performance, we conduct surveys on concerns that arise in various markets. We also assess customer behaviours, attitudes and satisfaction with telecommunications products, services, and devices.

6.4 Monitoring industry compliance

We assess the compliance of all licensees with the regulatory framework, their licence and any relevant instruction or directives issued by the Commission. Where instances of noncompliance arise, we oversee timely investigations, proactive reviews, and monitoring of risk areas, ensuring that our regulatory powers are exercised in a transparent, appropriate, and nondiscriminatory manner.

6.5 Enforcing competition conditions

To ensure effective competition in the market, we investigate operator issues concerning interconnection and shared facilities, enabling timely and amicable resolutions, as necessary. We also enforce regulatory conditions on communications providers to promote competition.

6.6 Managing spectrum usage

The Commission ensures that the radio spectrum is used efficiently, limiting interference between users and maximising benefit to consumers. We authorise the use of spectrum through the issuance of frequency authorisations. Where appropriate, we issue exemptions to allow spectrum use without a frequency authorisation.

6.7 Radio Monitoring Measurements

We perform radio monitoring measurements, using our mobile monitoring unit, to ensure users of the radio spectrum remain compliant with the Telecommunications Act, their frequency authorisation, and technical standards, including but not limited to the international standards of the ITU Radio Regulations, where applicable.



6.8 Eliminating harmful radio interference

We advise and assist spectrum users by monitoring marine traffic and handling reports of interference, while carrying out activities to protect the radio spectrum. The Commission has developed an awareness and enforcement programme, which includes notifications and coordination with Government to eliminate instances of harmful interference.

6.9 Frequency Coordination

Where applicable and as part of our spectrum planning efforts, we will engage the FCC to coordinate on frequency bands of interest in the British Virgin Islands, United States Virgin Islands and Puerto Rico. The Commission strives for a more formal arrangement but recognises that coordination will continue with the FCC on a case-by-case basis.

6.10 Determining licence and frequency authorisation applications

Based on applicable policies and regulations, we assess commercial TV and radio services applications and other licences and frequency authorisations. Where the Commission grants licence or frequency authorisations, we monitor and enforce effective compliance.

6.11 ITU Data Collection

To assist in the global assessment of the Information and Communications Technology (ICT) market, the Commission solicits and collates relevant market data from local operators for submission to the International Telecommunications Union (ITU). The ITU then uses this data to monitor the latest trends and developments in the ICT Sector.

6.12 Monitoring telecommunications developments

Technical and commercial developments in the industry inform our policy work. Therefore, we monitor, analyse, and consider respective outcomes of future opportunities and challenges to ensure that we are appropriately informed and that our regulation and promotion of expansion are appropriate.

6.13 Implementing technical development

As telecommunications advances, the Commission determines the various implications of implementing technical initiatives. We will continue to encourage the proliferation of IPv6 across the Territory.

6.14 Advising the Government of the Virgin Islands

The Commission engages with the Government to advise on positions and policies relating to telecommunications issues and advancement in the telecommunications industry. We also work closely with other regulators in the Region to ensure a coordinated approach to regulation.

6.15 Engaging with international stakeholders.

We believe that discussing best practice is of utmost importance to ensuring consistency in our regulation of telecommunications. Considering this, the Commission engages with international stakeholders in the industry, to learn from their experiences and join policy discussions that may impact the BVI telecommunications sector.



6.16 Organising Industry Events

The Commission celebrates telecommunications related occasions such as World Telecommunications and Information Society Day. In December 2018, we hosted our first cocktail reception for industry stakeholders. We aim to provide an opportunity for mutual engagement and specified symposiums that promote timely learning and sharing with peers, stakeholders, and the public during the 2022/2023 year.

6.17 Continuous Professional Development

We undertake comprehensive internal and external staff training and development to ensure increased knowledge and awareness of the communications and technology sector as well as the responsibilities of the Commission. We also aim to optimise digital literacy through consumer education on the most effective and secure usage of ICTs.

6.18 Collecting telecommunications fees

We assess and collect fees and other charges payable to the Commission, including without limitation, licence fees, royalties, the industry levy and spectrum fees.

6.19 Informal Meetings

Expressing ideas and concerns and also receiving them are crucial for a Regulator. The Commission proposes to host different forms of informal meetings to open dialogue and boost communication with its stakeholders. The Commission endeavours to achieve holistic and practical lines of communication with regulated entities. Informal discussions or socials will be held by us once a year.

6.20 Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR)

As we attempt to improve our public image, The Commission considers new, hands-on initiatives that provide an avenue to fulfil its CSR to the BVI. Providing an ethical work environment, charity events, and a solid social media presence will all aid in improving this within the organisation and for the public, who we serve.



7. Part IV: Budget for 2022/2023 Financial Year

| Estimated Income | | |
|--------------------------|----------------|----------------|
| FY 2023 Budget - Income | FY 2023 Budget | FY 2022 Budget |
| Domain Registration Fees | 28,000.00 | 28,000.00 |
| Radio Licence Fees | 60,000.00 | 50,000.00 |
| Royalty Fees | 1,782,331.56 | 1,807,330.34 |
| Spectrum Fees | 516,650.00 | 516,650.00 |
| Submarine Cable Fees | 691,000.00 | 638,000.00 |
| Financial Income | 10,000.00 | 10,000.00 |
| Estimated Income | 3,087,981.56 | 3,049,980.34 |

| Estimated Expenditure | | |
|---|----------------|----------------|
| FY 2023 Budget - Expenditure | FY 2023 Budget | FY 2022 Budget |
| Operational Expenditure | | |
| Non-Executive and Executive Members Honoraria and Expenses | 84,600.00 | 63,600.00 |
| Employee Compensation | 1,551,191.11 | 1,413,099.88 |
| Government Fees and Staff Benefits | 777,941.41 | 681,921.35 |
| Professional Services | 506,750.00 | 596,800.00 |
| Conferences, Training and Travel | 115,349.06 | 60,400.00 |
| Rent and Utilities | 451,603.24 | 447,391.24 |
| Maintenance Expenses | 90,240.00 | 90,433.45 |
| Consumers Education and Public Relations | 33,800.00 | 60,000.00 |
| General and Administration | 183,906.00 | 189,641.25 |
| Special Project | - | - |



| Total Operational Expenditure | 3,795,380.82 | 3,603,287.17 |
|-------------------------------|--------------|--------------|
| Capital Expenditure | 14,598.10 | 196,700.00 |
| | | |
| Total Expenditures | 3,809,978.92 | 3,799,987.17 |

Overview Of Budgetary Items

Income

- **Domain Registration Fees**: This income comprises of new and renewal dot.vg subscribers. This is an emerging market that the Commission wishes to grow. The Commission hopes, in the future, that all local registered companies will have a DOT.Vg account.
- **Radio Licence Fees**: This income represents fees from individual radio operators, boat captains, and registered boats that renew or apply for a radio licence to operate in the BVI.
- **Royalty Fees**: This income represents royalties received from the licensed operators annually. This amount is 3% of the gross income of the licensed operators. This income decreased by 1%, as a result of impact to the COVID-19.
- **Spectrum Fees**: This is a relatively new revenue stream for the Commission, since the LTE award process in 2016. This is a fixed annual fee, payable every August by the holders of the LTE spectrum.
- Submarine Cable Fees: A revenue stream for the Commission, because of CWC submarine cables that terminate or transit the BVI, pursuant to the Submarine Cable Directive dated 18 December 2014. This revenue is capped at \$500,000.00 per annum.
- Finance Income: Interest Income on bank deposits.

Expenditures

- **Total operating expenditure (OPEX)** is anticipated to increase in 2022/2023 by 5% when compared to the previous year in lieu of steadfast efforts aimed at promoting policy objectives of the Commission.
- Executive and Non-executive Members Honoraria and Expenses: This represents the budgeted cost for all members of the Board of the Commission. This expenditure has increase by 33% over the prior year budget, as all members are being compensated.



- **Employee Compensation**: This represents remuneration for all employees, inclusive of twenty (20) full time positions. Overall staff costs for the Commission have increased by 10% over the prior budget year which is due to: i. the proposed addition of new hires made necessary by the volume of work expected during 2022-2023 period, and ii. ensuring the availability of sustainable human resources through effective succession planning and continued efforts to cross-train professional staff.
- Government Fees and Staff Costs: This represents employer social security, NHI, PAYE, pension cost, health benefits, staff recognition program, housing allowance, travel allowance, telephone allowance, entertainment allowance, sub-committee allowances, performance management and gratuity scheme. This figure has increased by 14% over the prior budget year.
- **Professional Services**: This represents auditing services, economics service, legal and litigation services, research and development services, and technical and human resource services. This figure has decreased by 15% from prior periods.
- Conferences, Training and Travel: This represents travel, local and internationally, for members of the Board and employees, to attend meetings, conferences, seminars, and workshops for continued development on behalf of the Commission. This figure has increased by 91% compared to the prior year's budget. The priority of the Commission is to ensure that each member of staff is adequately knowledgeable in their area considering ever-changing technology, while fostering business relationships with regulatory bodies worldwide. A resumption of in-person training for staff that aligns with their designation and long-term planning strategies.
- **Rent and Utilities**: This represents occupancy of the 2nd and 3rd floor of the LM Business Centre and a Disaster Recovery site. This figure has increased 1% over the prior budget year.
- **Maintenance Expenses**: This represents automobile maintenance, building maintenance, cleaning and cleaning materials, computers, equipment and site, fuel, and office equipment. This figure has decreased by 0.2% over the prior budget year.
- Consumers Education and Public Relations: This represents initiatives aimed at educating and informing consumer on various aspects of the telecommunications sector, including community outreach; utilisation of other media avenues; and acknowledgement of various telecommunications days/events. This expenditure has decreased 44% over the prior budget.
- General and Administration: This represents subscriptions, customs duties, general office expenses, and messenger services. This figure has decreased by 3% over the prior budget year.



Annex - Instructions for submitting a Response

The Telecommunications Regulatory Commission of the British Virgin Islands (the *Commission*) invites comments on this consultation document from all interested parties. Comments should be submitted by 16 June 2022.

We strongly prefer responses to this document to be sent by email to consultations@trc.vg (indicating the subject: "Consultation on the Work Plan and Budget 2022/2023". Alternatively, responses may be sent to the address (or the P.O Box number) set out below:

Consultation on the Work Plan and Budget 2022/2023 – Telecommunications Regulatory Commission, P.O. Box 4401 or 27 Fish Lock Road, 3rd Floor Road Town, Tortola, British Virgin Islands VG 1110.

Responses from corporate bodies (legal persons) should include:

- the name of the company/institution/association/other organisation;
- the name of a principal contact person; and
- full contact details (physical address, postal address, telephone number, fax number and email address).

Responses from individual (natural) persons, should include name and contact details (including email).

We have produced a cover sheet for responses (see below) and would be grateful if you could send one with your response. This will speed up our processing of the responses and help to maintain confidentiality, where appropriate.

In the interest of transparency, the Commission will make all submissions received available to the public, subject to the confidentiality of the information received. The Commission will evaluate requests for confidentiality according to relevant legal principles.

Respondents are required to clearly mark any information included in their submission which they consider to be confidential and provide reasons why that information should be treated as such. Where information claimed to be confidential is included in a submission, respondents are required to provide both a confidential and a non-confidential version of their submission. The Commission will determine whether information claimed to be confidential is to be treated as such and, if so, will not publish that information. In respect of information that is determined to be non-confidential, the Commission may publish or refrain from publishing such information at its sole discretion.

Once the Commission has received and considered responses to this consultative document, it will deliver its final Work Plan and Budget for the 2022/2023 financial year to the Minister of Finance for approval and it will be published on the Commission's website.



Cover Sheet For Response To A Commission Consultation

BASIC DETAILS

Consultation title: To (Commission Contact):

Name of respondent:

Representing (self or organisation/s):

Address (if not received by email):

CONFIDENTIALITY

Please tick below which part of your response you consider is confidential, giving your reasons why

| Nothing | Name/contact details/job title |
|----------------------|-------------------------------------|
| Whole response | Organisation |
| Part of the response | Details of Confidential Information |

If you want part of your response, your name or your organisation not to be published, we can still publish a reference to the contents of your response (including, for any confidential parts, a general summary that does not disclose the specific information or enable you to be identified)?

DECLARATION

I confirm that the correspondence supplied with this cover sheet is a formal consultation response that the Commission can publish. However, in supplying this response, I understand that the Commission may need to publish all responses, including those which are marked as confidential, in order to meet legal obligations. If I have sent my response by email, the Commission can disregard any standard email text about not disclosing email contents and attachments.

The Commission seeks to publish responses on receipt. If your response is non-confidential (in whole or in part), and you would prefer us to publish your response only once the consultation has ended, please tick here.

Name

Signed (if hard copy)